
November 12, 2023 

Dear Provost Andrew Guzman, 

The Academic Freedom Alliance (AFA) is a coali�on of faculty members from 
across the country and across the ideological spectrum who are commited to 
upholding the principles of academic freedom and professorial free speech. 

We are deeply concerned by reports that Professor John Strauss has been put on 
administra�ve leave. It is our understanding that on November 9, 2023, Professor 
Strauss engaged in a brief verbal exchange with protestors in a public area on 
campus. A video of part of the incident was subsequently posted on the Internet 
by Trojans for Pales�ne, and that Professor Strauss and other students at the 
event believe that video was altered so as to make it appear that Professor 
Strauss yelled “death to Pales�nians.” Professor Strauss subsequently began 
receiving hate email. 

It is our understanding that Professor Strauss was involuntarily placed on paid 
administra�ve leave and barred from campus and from con�nuing to teach his 
undergraduate course. He is only allowed to con�nue teaching graduate 
students by Zoom. 

I write on behalf of the Academic Freedom Alliance to express our firm view that 
the university’s ac�ons represent an egregious viola�on of the principles of 
freedom of expression and due process to which the University of Southern 
California has contractually commited itself.  

The Faculty Handbook at 8-D(3) states that faculty may be placed on 
administra�ve leave “only as part of the ini�a�on of a dismissal ac�on and only, if 
in the judgment of the Provost, immediate harm to the faculty member or others 
is threatened by the faculty member’s con�nuance.” In such circumstances, the 
Handbook directs that “the University shall make reasonable efforts to protect 
the con�nuity of the academic work of students, faculty and staff who are 
adversely affected.” 

Addi�onally, the Handbook at 3-B(1)(a) guarantees that “Faculty members are 
ci�zens, members of learned professions, and offices of an educa�onal 
ins�tu�on. When they speak or write as ci�zens, they should be free from 
ins�tu�onal censorship or discipline, but their special posi�on in the community 

https://policy.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Faculty-Handbook-2022.pdf


imposes special obliga�ons. As educa�onal officers, they should remember that 
the public may judge their profession and the University by their uterances. 
Hence, they should at all �mes be accurate, should exercise appropriate restraint, 
should show respect for the opinions of others, and should make every effort to 
indicate that they are not speaking for the University.” As the Handbook 
recognizes, this language reflects “na�onal standards” of academic freedom and 
freedom of expression as ar�culated by the American Associa�on of University 
Professors. 

When professors “speak or write as ci�zens, they should be free from ins�tu�onal 
censorship or discipline.” As the AAUP has emphasized, “The controlling principle 
is that a faculty member’s expression of opinion as a ci�zen cannot cons�tute 
grounds for dismissal unless it clearly demonstrates the faculty member’s 
unfitness for the posi�on.” 

Even if the words falsely atributed to Professor Strauss in the Trojans for 
Pales�ne video had in fact been ar�culated by him in the context of a public 
poli�cal rally, they are fully within the bounds of protected First Amendment 
speech and within the scope of protected speech under the university’s policies. 
Private speech on controversial social and poli�cal topics can some�mes be 
heated, ill-tempered, ill-considered, and broadly offensive. We do not hold such 
speech to the standards that we would properly expect from speech in the 
classroom or from scholarly research. The video in ques�on does not portray 
Professor Strauss as issuing a genuine threat to any individual nor as engaging in 
any harassing conduct. Of course, it is contested whether Professor Strauss even 
issued those words, and the words he and other witnesses assert that he actually 
said are even further from the line that would separate protected from 
unprotected speech. There is no proper inves�ga�on to be conducted as to 
whether Professor Strauss behaved contrary to university policy in a manner that 
might merit discipline. To the extent that any inves�ga�on might be jus�fied to 
establish the facts of what happened at the rally, it could be concluded extremely 
quickly and would not jus�fy an administra�ve leave. 

A suspension and inves�ga�on are in themselves serious sanc�ons. Such ac�ons 
should only be taken when there are good reasons to believe that a professor has 
violated university policies and, in the case of a suspension, when there are 
serious risks associated with leaving a professor in place. There is simply no 
plausible basis for concluding that Professor Strauss poses an immediate risk to 
other members of the campus community. To the extent to which he is himself 
being threatened as a result of his cons�tu�onally protected poli�cal speech, the 
university’s obliga�on is to protect him from such threats and not to sanc�on him 
as a result of those threats. There is a great danger to academic freedom from 
universi�es jumping to the conclusion that a controversial professor’s presence 

https://www.aaup.org/report/1940-statement-principles-academic-freedom-and-tenure


poses an unacceptable risk to the safety of the campus community. The flimsiest 
of evidence of a threat can become the basis for interfering with a faculty 
member’s teaching and research and for effec�vely punishing a professor for 
genera�ng controversy. The university becomes the instrument of a heckler’s veto 
when it punishes a member of the faculty when other members of the campus 
community or of the general public react vociferously enough to a professor’s 
lawful speech. A university has a special obliga�on to secure an environment in 
which passionate debates about controversial maters of public concern can take 
place. A university fails in that duty if its response to threats and in�mida�on is to 
punish the vic�m of the threats and suppress or chill the controversial speech. 
Such ac�ons are all the more troubling if they effec�vely incen�vize one or both 
sides in those debates to issue threats in order to suppress the speech of their 
opponents. 

We call on the university to immediately li� the administra�ve leave from 
Professor Strauss. A prohibi�on on him coming to campus or teaching his classes 
cannot, under these circumstances, be regarded a “reasonable effort[] to protect 
the con�nuity of the academic work of students, faculty, and staff.” More 
fundamentally, a suspension can only be jus�fied under the university’s rules if a 
disciplinary inves�ga�on is to be launched, and any such inves�ga�on in this case 
would be clearly pretextual and a viola�on of Professor Strauss’s contractual 
rights. 

Even if the university were to believe that an administra�ve leave preliminary to 
an inves�ga�on is jus�fied in this case, the absolute prohibi�on on Professor 
Strauss con�nuing to teach his undergraduate class is unreasonable. It should be 
possible to make greater accommoda�ons to facilitate his con�nuing to teach his 
undergraduate course just as the university contemplates for his graduate 
course. Professor Strauss could engage with his undergraduate students by 
Zoom and read and grade their writen work without the necessity of se�ng foot 
on campus. The university’s own policy regarding administra�ve leaves would 
require such an accommoda�on. 

Sincerely, 

Keith Whi�ngton 
Founding Chair, Academic Commitee, Academic Freedom Alliance 
William Nelson Cromwell Professor of Poli�cs, Princeton University (for 
iden�fica�on purposes only) 



 

cc.  Divisional Dean William Deverell 
 Associate Vice Provost Patrick Prince 
 Dean Amber Miller 
  Professor John Strauss 
  General Counsel Beong-Soo Kim 
 


